Initially Nondiagnostic Ulrasound-Guided Fine-Needle Aspiration Biopsy of Thyroid Nodules: Value and Management

Jin Chung

Department of Medicine

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

Initially Nondiagnostic Ultrasound-Guided Fine-Needle Aspiration Biopsy of Thyroid Nodules: Value and Management

Directed by Professor Eun Ju Son

The Master's Thesis submitted to the Department of Medicine, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Science

Jin Chung

June 2010

This certifies that the Master's Thesis of Jin Chung is approved.

Thesis Supervisor : Prof. Eun Ju Son

Thesis Committee Member #1: Prof. Jeong Seon Park

Thesis Committee Member #2: Prof. Woung Youn Chung

> The Graduate School Yonsei University

> > June 2010

Acknowledgements

I am distinctly grateful to professor Eun Ju Son, thesis supervisor, for her advise and enthusiastic support from planning to the completion of this Master's thesis. I'm also very grateful to professor Jeong Seon Park and professor Woung Youn Chung, thesis committee members for this instructions and feedback which kept me focused in my study.

I wish to express my particular appreciation to my parents and Ji Ho Kim, my husband for their endless love and selfless care.

Table of contents

ABS	STRACT	1
I.	INTRODUCTION	5
II.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	7
	1. Study Population	7
	2. Imaging Surveillance	8
	3. US-guided FNAB and the Reference Standard	10
	4. Statistical Analysis	11
III.	RESULTS	12
	1. Patient and Final Cytopathologic Results	12
	2. US Analysis	13
IV.	DISCUSSION	16
V.	CONCLUSION	19
REF	ERENCES	20
ABS	TRCT (IN KOREAN)	24

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Summary	of thyroid	nodules	8
0	5	2		

LIST OF TABLES

- Table 2. Comparison of US features with cytopathology of143 initially nondiagnostic thyroid nodules in fine-needle aspiration biopsy14

Abstract

Initially Nondiagnostic Ultrasound-Guided Fine-Needle Aspiration Biopsy of Thyroid Nodules: Value and Management

Jin Chung

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei Universtiy

(Directed by Professor Eun Ju Son)

I. INTRODUCTION

The management of patients with thyroid fine-needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) specimens that are nondiagnostic cytologic results still remains problematic. Aims of this study were to investigate the incidence of thyroid cancer among the initially nondiagnostic cases of FNAB and to compare the final cytopathologic results between probably benign and suspicious nodules in ultrasonography (US) with suggesting the management of initially nondiagnostic thyroid nodules at FNABs.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

From July 2006 to December 2009, 10,317 thyroid nodules in 6,684 consecutive patients underwent US-guided FNAB. Among them, 871 thyroid nodules (8.4%) that were diagnosed as nondiagnostic at initial cytologic evaluation and 196 thyroid nodules underwent subsequent second or third FNAB. Twenty-seven thyroid nodules (18.9%) were underwent surgery and 116 thyroid nodules were considered as benign which were cytologically confirmed as benign and showed no remarkable change at follow-up US. US findings of total 143 thyroid nodules (123 benign nodules and 20 malignant nodules) in 138 patients (M: F = 20: 118; mean age, 50.5 years) were retrospectively reviewed. US features were including internal composition, echogenicity, margin, calcifications, shape and underlying echogenicity.

III. RESULTS

In total, thyroid cancers were diagnosed in 20 nodules (14.0%, 19 papillary carcinomas and one minimally invasive Hurthle cell cancer). Lesion size varied from 3 to 40mm (mean, 10.4mm). Fourteen lesions were palpable and the others were incidentally found. The size of lesion was significantly associated with malignancy (P < 0.05). Only two sonographically probable benign nodules revealed malignancy (2.4%). Suspicious nodule on US

showed thyroid cancer in 43.2%. Markedly hypoechogenicity, microlobulated or irregular margin, microcalcifications and taller-than-wide shape were significant US findings that correlated with malignancy (P < 0.05). Diagnostic performance of ultrasound of initially nondiagnostic thyroid nodules was calculated as follow: sensitivity 90.0%, specificity 65.0%, positive predictive value 29.5 %, and negative predictive value 97.6%.

IV. DISCUSSION

Malignancy rates of thyroid nodules which were showed non-diagnostic result in FNAB was 14.0% in our study. Considering the management of thyroid nodules with nondiagnostic FNAB cytology, the US evaluation is a feasible method and useful in predicting malignancy.

V. CONCLUSION

Although nondiagnostic cytologic result at initial FNAB, repeat FNAB is needed for sonographically suspicious nodules, due to 14% of malignancy rates in nondiagnostic thyroid nodules. However, follow-up US is more recommended rather than repeat FNAB for sonographically probably benign nodules. Sonographic findings of thyroid nodules with nondiagnostic results at FNABs are useful method to plan the management.

Key words: thyroid nodules, fine-needle aspiration biopsy, sonography, thyroid cancer

Initially Nondiagnostic Ultrasound-Guided Fine-Needle Aspiration Biopsy of Thyroid Nodules: Value and Management

Jin Chung

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei Universtiy

(Directed by Professor Eun Ju Son)

I. INTRODUCTION

A fine-needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) of thyroid nodule is an accurate, reliable and minimally invasive method to identify a thyroid nodule as benign or malignant. In addition, the use of ultrasound (US) guidance can improve diagnostic accuracy and permits accurate biopsy of small nonpalpable thyroid nodules with visualization of the needle within the lesion. Nowadays, the main role of FNAB of thyroid nodule is to triage patients for either surgery or conservative management with benign, suspicious, or malignant cytologic evaluation. However, a dilemma occurs in the 10% to 21% of patients who have cytologic findings that are nondiagnostic and the current management of

nondiagnostic thyroid nodules remains controversial.¹⁻⁴ Repeat aspiration of cytology of thyroid nodules may correct initial false negative results and Chehade et al. showed a reduction in the false negative rate from 5.2% to 1.3% after a second aspiration was performed.⁵ On the other hand, Shin et al reported the repeat FNA results still showed 14% of nondiagnostic cases.⁶ Previous studies reported the incidence of malignancy to be 5-37% among nondiagnostic thyroid nodules.^{7,8} Current opinion suggests that nondiagnostic aspirated should be repeated, however, the algorithm for managing these nondiagnostic cases has not been established.

The aims of this study were to investigate the incidence of thyroid cancer among the nondiagnostic cases of FNAB and to compare the final cytopathologic results between probably benign and suspicious nodules in US with suggesting the management of initially nondiagnostic thyroid nodules at FNABs.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Study Population

This study was approved by the institutional review of board. Informed consent was not required for this retrospective study, however, informed consent for FNAB was obtained from all patients prior to biopsy. From July 2006 to December 2009, 10,317 focal thyroid nodules in 6684 consecutive patients underwent US-guided FNAB at Gangnam Severance Hospital (Seoul, Korea). Among them, 871 thyroid nodules (8.4%) were diagnosed as nondiagnostic at initial cytologic evaluation and 197 thyroid nodules in 190 patients were underwent subsequent second or third FNAB. Twenty-seven thyroid nodules (18.9%, 27 patients) were underwent surgery and 116 thyroid nodules were considered as benign which were cytologically confirmed as benign and showed no remarkable change at follow-up US. Remaining 53 thyroid nodules were excluded owing to a lack of further evaluation, such as surgery, follow-up FNAB, or follow-up US Finally, 143 thyroid nodules (27 surgically confirmed thyroid nodules and 116 cytologically confirmed thyroid nodules with no remarkable change on follow-up US) were included in study (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Summary of thyroid nodules

This study included 143 thyroid nodules in 138 patients (118 women, 20 men). Mean age of all patient was 50.5 years (range, 26 - 79 years), mean age of male patients was 49.3 years (range, 27 - 67 years), and mean age of female patients was 50.7 years (range, 26 - 79 years). The mean lesion size was 10.4 mm (range, 3 - 40 mm). Fourteen thyroid nodules were palpable and the remaining 129 thyroid nodules (90.2%) were incidentally found on the US.

2. Imaging Surveillance

Thyroid US images were obtained by using a 7- to 15-MHz linear array transducer (HDI 5000; Philips Medical Systems, Bothell, WA, USA), or a 5-

to 12-MHz linear array transducer (iU22; Philips Medical Systems) for evaluation of thyroid glands and necks. Real-time US was performed by one of three radiologists (two radiologists with more than 5 years of experience in thyroid US and one radiologist with more than 2 years of experience in thyroid US).

Ultrasonographic findings of total 143 thyroid nodules were retrospectively reviewed. The length, width, and depth of each nodule were evaluated on US images and the size was obtained at the longest aspect. The location (right and left) of each nodule was also reported. Focal thyroid nodules were interpreted by using US features, including internal compositions (solid, cyst, mixed, sponge < 50%, and sponge > 50%), echogenicity (hyper, iso, hypo, and markedly hypoehcoic), margin (circumscribed, microlobulated, and irregular), combined calcifications (micro, macro, eggshell, negative and mixed), shape (parallel and non-parallel) and underlying echogenicity (homogeneous and heterogeneous).

The final US assessment was probably benign, low suspicious and suspicious. Malignant US features were defined as markedly hypoechogenicity (decreased echogenicity compared with the surrounding strap muscle), a microlobulated (the presence of many small lobules on the surface of a nodule) or irregular margin, microcalcifications, and taller-thanwide shape (greater in the anteroposterior dimension than the transverse dimension) on the basis of previously published criteria.⁹ A low suspicious nodule (positive US feature) was defined if one of the above findings were present. Suspicious nodule was defined as thyroid nodules with two or more suspicious features on US. If a nodule showed no suspicious features, it was classified as probably benign.

3. US-guided FNAB and the Reference Standard

US-guided FNAB of thyroid nodule was performed by radiologist. FNABs were performed either for thyroid nodules with suspicious US features. In patients with more than one nodule, the most suspicious nodule was aspirated in accordance with the criteria mentioned above or the largest thyroid nodule if no suspicious US features were detected. US-guided FNAB was performed with a 23-gauge needle (Korea Vaccine, Seoul, Korea) attached to a 2-mL disposable syringe (Kovax-Syringe, Seoul, Korea) without an aspirator. Materials obtained from the aspiration biopsy were expelled on four glass slides and smeared. All smears were immediately placed in 95% alcohol for Papanicolau and hematoxylin and eosin staining. The remainder of the materials in the syringe was rinsed in saline for processing as a cell block. Additional special staining was performed on a case-by-case basis according to the cytopathologist's needs. One of three cytopathologists (over 10 years of

experience) interpreted the FNAB slides.

Specimens were considered nondiagnostic if insufficient cellular material (< 6 groups of well-preserved > 15 cells each) or predominantly of blood is present, or both colloid and follicular cells are present.

4. Statistical Analysis

We compared patients in the benign and malignant groups according to categorical variables by chi-squared test (nominal data). We also evaluated the comparison between benign and malignant groups with continuous variables by independent two-sample *t*-test. Diagnostic performance of US and the incidence of thyroid cancer among the initially nondiagnostic cases of FNAB were calculated. Statistical significance was assumed when the *P* value was < 0.05. Ninety-five percent confidence intervals were calculated for proportions based of exact binomial tables. Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS version 15.0 software (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

III. RESULTS

1. Patient and Final Cytopathologic Results

A total 143 thyroid nodules of the 138 patients included in our study, 118 patients (85.5%) were female and 20 patients (14.5%) were male. The mean size of the thyroid nodule on US was 10.4 mm (range, 3 - 40 mm). Fourteen thyroid nodules (9.8%) were palpable and the others were incidentally found on US. Eighty-nine nodules (62.2%) were located in the right lobe of thyroid and 54 nodules (37.8%) were located in the left lobe of thyroid.

In total 143 nodules, thyroid cancers were diagnosed with surgery in 20 nodules (14.0%, 19 papillary carcinomas and one minimally invasive Hurthel cell cancer) and the benign was diagnosed in 123 nodules (7 nodules confirmed by means of surgery and 116 nodules confirmed by means of repeat FNAB and follow-up US). The patient demographics are listed in Table 1.

Table 1. Comparison of patient demographics with final cytopathology of 143

 thyroid nodules with initially nondiagnostic fine-needle aspiration biopsy

 results

Characteristic	Malignant	Benign	p-value
Age (years) (mean)	50.7	50.4	0.453
Sex, n (%)			0.275
Male	2 (8.0)	23 (92.0)	
Female	18 (15.3)	100 (84.7)	
Lesion size (mm) (mean)	8.7	10.7	0.017
Location, <i>n</i> (%)			0.469
Right	13 (14.6)	76 (85.4)	
Left	7 (13.0)	47 (87.0)	
Symptom, <i>n</i> (%)			0.675
Palpable	1 (7.1)	13 (92.9)	
Incidental	19 (14.7)	110 (85.3)	

Malignant nodules were significantly smaller than benign nodules (p < 0.05). Age, sex, location of nodule and symptom were statistically insignificant.

2. US Analysis

US features of thyroid nodules are summarized in Table 2.

US feature	Total, <i>n</i> (%)	Benign, n (%)	Malignant, n (%)	p-value
	(<i>n</i> = 143)	(<i>n</i> = 123)	(n = 20)	
Composition				0.050
Solid	89 (62.2)	71 (79.1)	18 (20.9)	
Mixed	41 (28.7)	39 (91.9)	2 (8.1)	
<50% sponge	3 (2.1)	3 (2.1)	0 (97.9)	
>50% sponge	10 (7.0)	10 (7.0)	0 (93.0)	
Echogenicity				< 0.001
Hyperechoic	3 (2.1)	3 (100)	0 (0)	
Isoechoic	36 (25.2)	36 (100)	0 (0)	
Hypoechoic	92 (64.3)	79 (85.9)	13 (14.1)	
Markedly hypoechoic	12 (8.4)	5 (41.7)	7 (58.3)	
Margin				< 0.001
Circumscribed	93 (65.0)	89 (95.7)	4 (4.3)	
Microlobulated	34 (23.8)	26 (76.5)	8 (23.5)	
Irregular	16 (11.2)	8 (50.0)	8 (50.0)	
Calcifications				< 0.001
Microcalcifications	15 (10.5)	7 (46.7)	8 (53.3)	
Macrocalcifications	20 (14.0)	18 (90.0)	2 (10.0)	
Eggshell	1 (0.7)	1 (100)	0 (0)	
Negative	105 (73.4)	96 (91.4)	9 (8.6)	
Mixed	2 (1.4)	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	
Shape				< 0.001
Parallel	106 (74.1)	99 (93.4)	7 (6.6)	
Taller-than-wide	37 (25.9)	24 (64.9)	13 (35.1)	

Table 2. Comparison of US features with cytopathology of 143 initiallynondiagnostic thyroid nodules in fine-needle aspiration biopsy

Underlying echogenicity				0.69
Homogeneous	135 (94.4)	116 (85.9)	19 (14.1)	
Heterogeneous	8 (5.6)	7 (87.5)	1 (12.5)	
US assessment				< 0.001
Probably benign	82 (57.3)	80 (97.6)	2 (2.4)	
Low suspicious	24 (16.8)	22 (91.7)	2 (8.3)	
Suspicious	37 (25.9)	21 (56.8)	16 (43.2)	

The most of sonographically probably benign nodules revealed benign in 97.6%. Probably benign, low suspicious and suspicious nodules on US showed thyroid cancers in 2.4%, 8.3% and 43.2%, respectively (P < 0.05). Markedly hypoechogenicity, microlubulated or irregular margin, microcalcifications and taller-than-wide shape were significant US findings that correlated with malignancy (P < 0.05). Diagnostic performance of ultrasound of initially nondiagnostic thyroid nodule was calculated as follow: sensitivity 90.0%, specificity 65.0%, positive predictive value 29.5% and negative predictive value 97.6%.

IV. DISCUSSION

US-guided FNAB of thyroid nodule is a method used worldwide to diagnose thyroid nodules but it has limitations, such as nondiagnostic results. Incidence of malignancy in thyroid nodules with nondiagnostic cytologic results showed wide range in previous studies.⁶⁻⁹ Our study showed nondiagnostic results at initial FNAB with 8.4% and among them 14% of thyroid nodules were finally confirmed as malignancy. Therefore, cytologic-clinicoradiologic correlation can be important follow-up step to manage these thyroid nodules with initially nondiagnostic cytologic results. In our study, malignancy rate of thyroid nodules which were showed nondiagnostic result in FANB was 14.0% and this result was comparable with previous reports (range, 5-37%).⁶⁻⁹

Previous studies showed the mean size of benign thyroid nodules was larger than for malignant thyroid nodules with no significant difference.⁹⁻¹¹ Current large studies showed the increasing rates of small thyroid cancers with advances in diagnostic techniques, such as high-resolution US and the increasing numbers of imaging studies to establish the diagnosis of thyroid cancer.¹²⁻¹⁴ In our study, the mean size for benign thyroid nodules was larger than for malignant thyroid nodules and the size of lesion was statistically significantly associated with malignancy (the mean size: 8.7mm for malignant nodules versus 10.7mm for benign nodules, p = 0.017), but sex, age, location and symptom were not. This result was probably related to selective thyroid

nodules, found incidentally on screening US examination. Increasing numbers of thyroid nodules are found incidentally on head and neck ultrasounds for carotid or breast disease and CT or PET scans for metastatic surveillance.¹⁵ The prevalence of incidental thyroid nodules on US has been found to be as high as 17 % to 67 %.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ In our study, 90.2 % of thyroid nodules was found incidentally, which was more higher incidence than previously reported.

Many reports described suspicious US features, such as microlobulated or irregular margins, hypoechogenicity, microcalcifications, solid component, a taller-than-wide shape, and intratumoral vascularity.9,19-23 In our study, we used the US classification described by Kim et al because of its simplicity and high diagnostic accuracy.9 Our study also shows that the presence of microcalcifications, microlobulated irregular or margins, markedly hypoechogenicity, and taller-than-wide shape was statistically significantly associated with malignancy. Sonographically suspicious nodules were finally proved malignancy in 43.2% and only 2.4% in sonographically probably benign nodules revealed malignancy in our study. It suggests suspicious US features are helpful in management of thyroid nodules with initially nondiagnostic cytologic results. Thyroid nodules with nondiagnostic result in FNAB are required repeat FNAB, because its high malignancy rate, 14.0% in this study. Repeat FNAB is needed for thyroid nodules with nondiagnostic result in initial FNAB and correlations with US findings are helpful for thyroid nodules with continuously nondiagnostic results in second or third FNAB. Follow-up US is required for sonographically probably benign nodules with nondiagnostic results in FNAB and the repeat FNAB is needed when the size or the US findings of these nodules are changed during follow-up US (Fig.2).

Figure 2. Management of thyroid nodules with nondiagnostic fine-needle aspiration biopsy results



There were several limitations to our study. First, this study was a retrospective study including patients who had more than two FNABs with surgery or follow-up US. Selection bias may have existed during the inclusion process. Second, relatively small sample size (n=143) could be limitation of our study and large sample study should be needed. Third, we regarded nodules with benign cytologic result consider as benign. Surgically confirmed cases were only 27 thyroid nodules (18.9%).

V. CONCLUSION

Considering the management of thyroid nodules with nondiagnostic FNAB cytology, the US evaluation is a feasible method and useful in predicting malignancy. Repeat FNAB is essential for nondiagnostic nodules in initial FNAB, However, the follow-up US could be feasible methods for sonographically probably benign nodules with contiguously nondiagnostic results in repeat FNAB.

REFERENCES

- Chow LS, Gharib H, Goellner JR, van Heerden JA. Nondiagnostic thyroid fine-needle aspiration cytology: management dilemmas. Thyroid 2001; 11: 1147-51.
- Gharib H, Goellner JR. Fine-needle aspiration biopsy of the thyroid: an appraisal. Ann Intern Med 1993; 118: 282-9.
- Alexander EK, Heering JP, Benson CB, Frates MC, Doubilet PM, Cibas ES, et al. Assessment of Nondiagnostic Ultrasound-Guided Fine Needle Aspirations of Thyroid Nodules. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 4924-7.
- Yang J, Schnadig V, Logrono R, Wasserman PG. Fine-needle aspiration of thyroid nodules: a study of 4703 patients with histologic and clinical correlations. Cancer 2007; 111: 306-15.
- Chehade JM, Silverberg AB, Kim J, Case C, Mooradian AD. Role of repeated fine-needle aspiration of thyroid nodules with benign cytologic features. Endocr Pract 2001; 7: 237-43.
- Shin JH, Han BK, Ko K, Choe YH, Oh YL. Value of repeat ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration in nodules with benign cytological diagnosis. Acta Radiol 2006; 47: 469-73.
- Baier ND, Hahn PF, Gervais DA, Samir A, Halpern EF, Mueller PR, et al. Fine-Needle Aspiration Biopsy of Thyroid Nodules: Experience

in a Cohort of 944 Patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2009; 193: 1175-9.

- Richards ML, Bohnenblust E, Sirinek K, Bingener J. Nondiagnostic thyroid fine-needle aspiration biopsies are no longer a dilemma. Am Surg 2008; 196: 398-402.
- Kim EK, Park CS, Chung WY, Oh KK, Kim DI, Lee JT, et al. New sonographic criteria for recommending fine-needle aspiration biopsy of nonpalpable solid nodules of the thyroid. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2002; 178: 687-91.
- Papini E, Guglielmi R, Bianchini A, Crescenzi A, Taccogna S, Nardi F, et al. Risk of malignancy in nonpalpable thyroid nodules: predictive value of ultrasound and color-Doppler features. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 1941-6.
- Peccin S, de Castro JA, Furlanetto TW, Furtado AP, Brasil BA, Czepielewski MA. Ultrasonography: is it useful in the diagnosis of cancer in thyroid nodules? J Endocrinol Invest 2002; 25: 39-43.
- Enewold L, Zhu K, Ron E, Marrogi A, Stojadinovic A, Peoples GE, et al. Rising thyroid cancer incidence in the United States by demographic and tumor characteristics, 1980-2005. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009; 18: 784-91.
- Machens A, Dralle H. Decreasing tumor size of thyroid cancer in Germany: Institutional experience 1995-2009. Eur J endocrinol E pub

in 2010.

- 14. Hall SF, Walker H, Siemens R & Schneeberg A. Increasing detection and increasing incidence in thyroid cancer. World J Surg 2009; 33: 2567-71.
- 15. Cappelli C, Castellano M, Pirola I, Cumetti D, Agosti B, Gandossi E, et al. The predictive value of ultrasound findings in the management of thyroid nodules. QJM 2007; 100: 29-35.
- 16. Kang HW, No JH, Chung JH, Min YK, Lee MS, Lee ML, et al. Prevalence, clinical and ultrasonographic characteristics of thyroid incidentalomas. Thyroid 2004; 14: 29-33.
- 17. Ito Y, Kobayashi K, Tomoda C, Uruno T, Takamura Y, Miya A, et al. Ill-defined edge on ultrasonographic examination can be a marker of suggestive characteristic of papillary thyroid microcarcinoma. World J Surg 2005; 29: 1007-11.
- 18. Schiro AJ, Pinchot SN, Chen H, Sippel RS. Clinical efficacy of fineneedle aspiration biopsy of thyroid nodules in males. J Surg Research 2010; 159: 645-50.
- 19. McHenry CR, Huh ES, Machekano RN. Is nodule size an independent predictor of thyroid malignancy? Surgery 2008; 144: 1062-9.
- 20. Ogilvie JB, Piatigorsky EJ, Clark OH. Current status of fine needle 22

aspiration for thyroid nodules. Adv Surg 2006; 40: 223-38.

- Ezzat S, Sarti DA, Cain DR, Braunstein GD. Thyroid incidentaloma.
 Prevalence by palpation and ultrasonography. Arch Intern Med 1994; 154: 1838-40.
- Woestyn J, Afschrift M, Schelstraete K, Vermeulen A. Demonstration of nodules in the normal thyroid by echography. Br J Radiol 1985; 58: 1179-82.
- Tan GH, Gharib H. Thyroid incidentalomas: management approaches to nonpalpable nodules discovered incidentally on thyroid imaging. Ann Intern Med 1997; 126: 226-31.

Abstract (in Korean)

갑상선 결절의 초기 비진단적 초음파 유도하

미세침흡인술 결과의 평가와 처리

<지도교수 손은주>

연세대학교 대학원 의학과

정진

I. 서론:

갑상선 미세침흡인술 결과상 비진단적인 결과가 나온 환자 의 처리는 여전히 문제가 되고 있다. 본 연구의 목적은 미세 침흡인술 결과상 초기에 비진단적인 결과가 나온 갑상선 결 절에서 갑상선 암의 발생률과 초음파상 양성으로 생각 되어 지는 경우와 초음파상 악성이 의심스러운 경우를 최종 세포 병리적인 결과와 비교 연구를 하여 이러한 미세침흡인술 상 비진단적 결과가 나온 경우의 평가와 처리에 대하여 연구하 고자 하였다.

II. 재료 및 방법

2006년 7월부터 2009년 12월까지 총 6684명의 환자 중 10317개의 갑상선 결절에서 초음파 유도하 미세침흡인술을 시행하였다. 그 중 871개 (8.4%) 갑상선 결절 에서 초기에 비진단적인 결과가 나왔으며 그 중 196개 갑상선 결절에서 2번 혹은 3번의 미세침흡인술을 시행을 하였다. 27개 (18.9%) 갑상선 결절이 수술로 확진이 되었으며 2번 혹은 3 번 째 미세침흡인술 결과상 양성으로 확인된 후 초음파를 주기적으로 시행하여 변화가 거의 없는 116개의 갑상선 결절 은 양성으로 간주를 하였다. 총 143개의 갑상선 결절 (양성 123개, 악성 20개)에 대하여 초음파 소견을 후향적으로 분석 을 하였다. 초음파 소견은 내부의 성분, 에코, 경계, 석회질, 모양과 배경 에코를 분석하였다.

III. 결과

전체적으로 갑상선 암은 20개 (14.0%) 에서 진단이 되었다. 결절의 크기는 3-40 mm (평균, 10.4 mm) 였으며 14개는 만져 졌으며 나머지는 우연히 발견이 되었다. 악성이 양성 결절보 다 크기가 작았으며 통계적으로도 유의하였다 (*P*< 0.05). 초 음파상 양성으로 생각된 대부분 결절(96.4%)은 실제로 양성 이었다. 초음파상 악성이 의심스러운 결절에서 갑상선 암의 발생률은 43.2% 였으며 초음파상 양성으로 판단한 경우보다 통계적으로 유의하게 암의 확률이 높았다 (*P*<0.05). 매우 에 코가 낮은 경우, 미세소엽상 혹은 불규칙한 경계를 갖는 경 우, 미세석회질이 있는 경우, 혹은 폭보다 키가 큰 경우가 통계적으로 악성과 관련이 높은 초음파 소견으로 나타났다 (*P*<0.05). 초기에 비진단적 미세침흡인술 결과가 나온 경우 에서 초음파의 진단적 성과는 다음과 같다; 민감도 90.0%, 특이도 65.0%, 양성 예측도 29.5%, 그리고 음성 예측도 97.6%.

IV. 고찰

비진단적 미세침흡인술 결과가 나온 갑상선 결절의 악성 빈도는 14.0% 였다. 본 연구는 이와 같은 비진단적 미세침흡 인술 결과가 나온 갑상선 결절에서 초음파상 악성이 의심되 는 소견들이 진료 방향을 정하는 데 도움을 준다는 것을 보 여주었으며 초음파상 악성이 의심되는 경우에는 미세침흡인 술을 재시행하고 양성이 의심스런운 경우에는 미세침흡인술 을 다시 시행하기보다는 초음파로 주기적으로 지켜보는 것 이 도움이 되는 것으로 나타났다.

26

V. 결론

비진단적 미세침흡인술 결과가 나온 갑상선 결절의 처리에 있어서 초음파는 매우 유용하며 악성을 예측하는 데 도움이 될 것이다.

핵심되는 말: 갑상선 결절, 미세침흡인술, 초음파, 갑상선암